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The STRATEGIC HOUSE

VISION
Develop Duqm as a Destination for Diverse 

Investments and Living Region

MISSION
Enhance People Capability 

Build Infrastructure Efficiently 
Investments to Maximise Shareholder’s Value

ENABLERS
Strategic Planning, Human Resource, Information Technology

VALUES
Safety, Teamwork, Quality, Integrity, Professionalism

Project 
 Management

•	 Professional 
Management of 
Projects

•	 Maintain International 
Standards; HSE and 
Quality

•	 Control Cost and Time
•	 Planning, Monitoring 

and Reporting
•	 Effectively manage 

stakeholders

Facilities  
Management

•	 Assets Availability
•	 O&M Efficiency and 

Effectiveness
•	 Cost optimization
•	 Enhancing Assets Life 

Cycle
•	 HSE and Quality
•	 Profit Center
•	 Promising Expansion

Investments

•	 Encourage investments 
through minority 
participation

•	 Enabler and Profit 
Generating

•	 Partnership with 
Private Investors

•	 Professionally 
managed companies

•	 Monitoring of 
Investments

•	 Dilusion / Exit
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COMPANY  
OVERVIEW 

Oman Company for the Development of Special Economic Zone at 

Al-Duqm SAOC (Tatweer) was incorporated in 2014 as 100% fully 

owned subsidiary of OPAZ. The authorized share capital of the 

Company is RO. 7 million and paid up share capital of the company 

is RO. 3.5 million.

Objectives

TATWEER is established to support SEZAD for ensuring 

infrastructure is constructed and then managed most efficiently and 

the zone attracts investments.

Project Management

Project Construction Supervision and Management including Tender 

and Contracts Management for projects by OPAZ in Duqm and 

other private clients in Duqm.

Facilities Management

 Manage various facilities within SEZAD ensuring availabilities, 

operational efficiencies and compliance to QHSE.

Investment                                                                                  

Encourage investments in Duqm through minority equity 

participation route - invest in enabling businesses and maximize 

shareholder’s value. TATWEER is currently confined to SEZAD and 

need to align its objectives and work plan with policies and business 

plan of SEZAD.
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DIRECTORS
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Dr. Rashid bin Ali Al Balushi,  
Chairman

(Managing Director, Iskan Oman 
Investment Company SAOC)

Sheikh Salah bin Hilal Al Mawaali,
Member 

(CEO, SME Development Fund)

Ms. Hamida bint Hamed Al Hashmi, 
Member 

(Manager of Development Budgets 
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Mr. Sulaiman bin Hamed Al Harthy,
Member
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it gives 
me great pleasure to present the annual 
report and the financial statements of 
Oman Company for Development of Special 
Economic Zone SAOC (“Tatweer”) for the 
year ended 31st December, 2020. 
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Company Strategy  
In 2020, company witnessed creation 
of Public Authority for Development of 
Special Economic Zones and Free Zones 
(OPAZ), wherein the erstwhile parent 
organization SEZAD has been integrated 
along with other free zones of Sohar, 
Salalah and Mazyona. The Company is 
committed to adopt OPAZ’s strategic 
framework and align its strategy and plans 
to meet expectations of the shareholders. 

Overall Business 
The company performed well in 2020 by 
ensuring timely completion of strategic 
and infrastructure projects through a 
very close coordination between various 
stakeholders including OPAZ, Contractors 
and Consultants. Keeping safety ahead of 
all other aspects has resulted in safe and 
healthy work environment in Duqm. In the 
investments segment, the Company has 
completed its first investment exit after 
ensuring operationalization of the business 
in Duqm and also, realizing reasonable 
returns to the shareholders.

Projects and Facilities Management
The Company is instrumental in ensuring 
that all OPAZ infrastructure projects 
in Duqm are constructed efficiently 
with control on time, quality and cost 
aspects. The Company has completed 
all major strategic projects during the 
year 2020 and is progressing well for 
other general infrastructure projects 
such as roads, utilities, dams, channels 
etc. Through its meticulous planning and 
persistent untiring efforts, the Company 
has significantly overcome internal and 
external challenges in project execution.  
There are new projects to be undertaken 
in the coming years where the Company 
would support OPAZ on planning, design 
and construction of the projects. 

Company is managing various assets and 
infrastructure belonging to OPAZ in Duqm 
by ensuring safe and efficient operations 
of the facilities. The Company has 
regularly introduced smart city concepts 
in the facilities management. Moving on, 
the Company would strive to bring in 
latest technology and best of the facilities 
management practices across the world 
to Duqm.

Investments
The Company endeavors to play the role 
of a catalyst for attracting investments 
in Duqm and act as Local Minority 
Investment Partner for other investors 
and developers to raise their confidence in 
Duqm development.

Company exited from its first investment 
in quarrying business after selling and 
transferring the stake to strategic mining 
company owned by the Oman Investment 
Authority. Through this, the Company 
has proven its investment model wherein 
a profitable business venture has been 
established in Duqm and the Company 
earned decent returns on the amount 
invested in the firm. Tatweer would like 
to repeat such experiences with focus on 
development of Duqm. 

Company’s second investment in logistics 
business is also operational and the 
Company is witnessing growth of business 
along with sizable appreciation in the 
investment value. 

Investment in building material market 
space is under construction phase and 
would see commissioning in 2021.

Acting as an Investment arm for OPAZ, the 
Company would continue to explore and 
work on more investment opportunities in 
2021. 
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Human Resources  
We believe our biggest strength is our 
human capital, and we shall continue to 
empower them, train them and develop 
them as we move ahead in our plans to 
develop Duqm. 

I take this opportunity to thank all 
our employees for their remarkable 
contribution to achieve strategic objectives 
of the Company amidst challenging 
business environment.

Corporate Governance
The company recognizes that the corporate 
governance practices are fundamental in 
protecting the interests and enhancing the 

value to the shareholders and stakeholders. 
The Company has started building robust 
corporate governance structure through 
establishing independent work committees 
for audit, personnel and procurement. The 
Company is also in process to establish 
transparent and well detailed policies and 
procedures to ensure compliance with 
laws and regulations, give guidance for 
decision-making, and to streamline the 
internal processes.

Appreciation 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, the 
management and all staff members, 
I express my sincere gratitude to His 
Majesty Sultan Haitham bin Tarik Al Said 
and pray to Almighty Allah to grant him 
long life, health and welfare to achieve 
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more progress, prosperity and welfare 
for Oman and its people and lead the 
country on the path of transformative and 
progressive development. 

I also take this opportunity to express 
my heartfelt appreciation to the Board 
of Directors, Executive Management and 
the staff of Public Authority for Special 
Economic Zones and Free Zones (OPAZ) 
who are continually helping this Company, 
in all the possible ways, to achieve its 
objectives and move forward to a self-
sustaining position. 

I also place on record appreciation for 
employees who full-time stay in Duqm and 
work hard for the success of the Company. 
I would like to take this opportunity 
to thank the management and all the 

employees, as their contributions through 
exhibiting company values have proved 
vital in achieving promises articulated in 
Vision and Mission of the Company.
 

Dr. Rashid bin Ali Al Balushi
Chairman of the Board of Directors    
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CEO’S
REPORT

The year 2020 was a challenging year due to the 
pandemic of COVID-19, however we carry stronger 
experience for managing construction of infrastructure 
and strategic port projects and we aspire to bring in 
best international practices for managing assets to 
eventually make Duqm an environment friendly and 
a smart city to invest and live in. Year 2020 has been 
fruitful from investments perspective as well; where we 
sold the shares in our subsidiary Company and earned 
cash profit of RO. 1.18 million and other investments 
have recorded profits for the year ending 2020.
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Human Resource 

At Tatweer, we recognize importance 
of experienced, committed and self-
motivated human capital for the success 
of our business and hence we continue 
to invest in our human capacity building 
through trainings, empowerment and role 
enhancement. 

Skills development has emerged as a 
key strategy to realize the potential of 
demographic advantage of having the 
young workforce within Oman. Through 
Skill Building initiative, Tatweer, aims to 
create human resources capabilities for 
improving the zone’s competitiveness 
and growth, in the areas of Company’s 
functions.

Health, Safety and Environment

Tatweer works with clear mandate to put 
health, safety and environment on top of 
the list during projects execution and as a 
result large size infrastructure projects are 
getting executed without any loss time 
incidents. 

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Company has joined hands with 
Tawasul Charitable Organization which 
aims to provide financial support and 
fund projects for the benefit of local 
communities in the Special Economic 
Zone in Duqm (SEZAD) in particular 
and Al Wusta Governorate in general to 
promote sustainable economic and social 
development.

During the year, Company participated in 
various events arranged by OPAZ, support 
for events like Ramadan donation, football, 
beach cleaning etc. 

As for the administration, we carry out our 
usual business on a daily basis and there 
are some difficulties due to COVID-19, 
and the air flights have stopped for some 
months, as transportation to and from 
Duqm was carried out by cars, and we 
also canceled some occasions such as the 
annual ceremony and others.  

All employees were moved from the 
frontier town to another residence to 
reduce expenses, and they were also 
provided with a gym. 

Project Management 
The Company is responsible for the 
implementation of all strategic and 
infrastructure projects in the zone, such as 
projects related to the Duqm port, liquid 
berth for refinery, fishery port, roads, 
dams, utilities etc.

Number of major projects have achieved 
completion in 2020. These include, all the 
Strategic Port Projects viz. Commercial 
Terminal and Operational Zone Areas, 
Roads, Infrastructure & Buildings at the 
Commercial Pre-gate, Gates and Inspection 
Zone at Port of Duqm and Commercial 
New Liquid Bulk Berth at Port of Duqm; 
Service corridor for Duqm Refinery, and a 
set of roads linking Duqm Refinery and the 
port, internal roads to service stakeholder 
and investors plots . As well, some projects 
are near completion and will be handed 
over during the first half of 2021.

Completion of the infrastructure projects 
and handing over the same to the respective 
users viz. Duqm Refinery, Port of Duqm, 
have given comfort and opportunity to 
various stakeholders to build further on 
this infrastructure and make Duqm an 
active spot in the world of business.
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Tatweer has been vigilant and attentive 
to ensure adherence to the time, cost and 
quality requirements. At the same time, it 
also works out solutions for unexpected 
challenges that the projects bring up 
with full compliance of health, safety and 
environmental aspects. 

Facilities Management  
Tatweer manages various facilities 
within the zone by ensuring availabilities, 
operational efficiencies and compliance 
to QHSE. While the Company currently 
manages assets of OPAZ in Duqm such as 
STP at Duqm city, IP4 STP, HQ Building, 
Roads etc, Company has taken steps to 
improve service levels by introducing 
Emergency Call facilities in Duqm and 
availability of Staff 24 X 7.

Learning from its experience, Facilities 
Management has intensified its role 
by taking up more tasks rather than 
outsourcing the same. This is aimed to 
achieve better life cycle management, 
reduce overall costs of serving and 
building internal human capabilities in the 
field of Facilities Management.

Going forward, the Company aims to serve 
other than OPAZ customers to serve their 
Facilities Management needs in Duqm. 
This will enhance revenue and profitability 
and make the Facilities Management as 
a standalone business segment within 
Tatweer. The Company also aims to bring 
in best of the industry practices either by 
self-building of capacities or joining hand 
with experienced companies in the field. 
Company is also in process to introduce 
Computer Aided Facility Management 
(CAFM) system to provide facility 
management solutions in Duqm in time 
and cost effective manners.

Investments
Company is participating with minority 
equity for those investment projects in 
Duqm which are enabler for Duqm and 

which are economically and financially 
sustainable. 

In 2020, the Company sold and transferred 
its first investment in Duqm Quarries 
at OMR 1.879m as against its original 
investment of OMR 700K, thus recording 
an impressive compounded annual growth 
rate of 33% for its investment.

Emdad Logistics, has also recorded 
positive results for FY 2020 and is looking 
forward to expand its business in coming 
years. Another investment, Duqm Material 
Market, has commenced construction 
during the year. On the other hand, one 
investment in subsidiary Duqm Fisheries 
Investment Company was liquidated and 
there was a loss of RO. 15K. 

Company is also exploring potential of 
investments in other sectors as well, 
through minority equity stake, to act as 
catalyst for investments in Duqm.

Operating Model

During the year the Company has agreed 
with OPAZ for pre-agreed fees toward 
its project management and facilities 
management services. This allow, Tatweer 
to have risk-reward based returns as 
compared to merely acting on cost 
reimbursement model. Company has 
strengthened its support divisions by 
establishing in-house functions viz. finance, 
HR and administration. The Company is 
constantly trying to add more revenue 
streams by obtaining service contracts 
from various clients in Duqm for project 
management and facilities management 
services.

Financial Results 

The Company’s major revenues are 
received in form of management fees 
from OPAZ. On consolidated basis, the 
Company recorded its revenues and 
profits along with its subsidiary Duqm 
Quarries.
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Majesty’s government for its continuing 
support to our organization. 

I would like to thank the Chairman and 
all the Directors on the Board for their 
support, encouragement and continuous 
guidance while dealing with internal and 
external challenges. 

I acknowledge and thank my management 
and staff members of the Company for 
their invaluable contribution in taking the 
Company to great heights. 

I am grateful to our parent organization 
OPAZ and all its members for their ongoing 
support to us. I would like to recognize 
and acknowledge the contribution of 
our collaboration partners, contractors, 
suppliers and service providers for their 
timely support.

Salim Bin Yasser Al Sulaimani
Chief Executive Officer

a. Revenue
The revenue for the year was RO. 
3.39 million (RO. 3.75 million, 2019) on 
standalone basis while consolidated 
revenue stood at RO. 6.50 million (RO. 
7.95 million, 2019).

b. Profit
The Profit for the year was recorded RO. 
2.21 million (RO. 224K, 2019) on standalone 
basis and RO. 1.449 million (RO. 1.039 
million, 2019) when consolidated. Capital 
expenditure and assets.

During the year there were additions to 
Fixed assets of RO. 94K. The net book 
value of assets reached RO. 534K (RO. 
467K, 2019).

The Year Ahead

Company will be updating its Business 
Plan for next 5 years which will, also, be 
aligned to the five-year business plan of 
parent organization, OPAZ.

Acknowledgements 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 
management and staff members of the 
Company, I express sincere gratitude to 
His Majesty Sultan Haitham bin Tarik for his 
vision, guidance and leadership and to His 
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FINANCIAL AND 
OPERATIONAL 

PERFORMANCE 
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Financial Performance 
The Revenue during the year was RO. 3.39 million and Operating profit was 959K. The fixed 
assets of the company increased from RO. 467K to RO. 534K due to addition during the 
year. The equity of the company increased from RO. 4.56 million to RO. 6.78 million due to 
operating profit for the year and also Gain on sale of shares in subsidiaries. 

Financial Performance
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Organization and Human Resources

Tatweer Company have three core business segments which hold promise in year 2020 such 
as Project Management, Facility Management and Investment along with Support Services 
such as Corporate Affairs, which includes Finance, Human Resources and Shared Services.

Company Organization Structure

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Audit Committee

Executive Committee

Human Resources CommitteeChief Executive O�cer

Chief Technical 
O�cer

Sr. Projects 
Manager

Facilities 
Manager

HSE 
in Charge

Head of Human
Resources Section 

Head of
Shared Services

Finance
Manager

Business 
Development 

Manager

Manager - 
Projects Infrastructure

Manager -
Special Strategic Projects

Corporate Service
Manager

Chief Financial 
O�cer (CFO)

Executive Secretary

Archive and Documention Section

Technical Corporate
A�airs Specialist
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Human Resources 
The Human Resources Policy has set up a strong framework for workforce management. 
Fostering a culture of caring and trust are other corporate policies like the Environment, 
Health & Safety (EHS) Policy at work place.

The total number of employees as on 31 December 2020 are shown in Table 1 below. In 
the year 2020 the total work force was 46 and the Omanisation level reached to 84.8%. 
Company is hiring the expert staff on project time line base from outsourcing consultancy.

Table 1: Employee details
Departments 2020 2019
CEO Office 3 2

Project management 17 23

Facility management 7 5

Health Safety and Environment 1 1

Technical Support 5 2

Investment 3 2

Corporate Services 3 3

Finance 2 2

Human Resource 1 2

Seconded to SEZAD 4 3

Total 46 45
Outsource Staff 11 3

 
Development 

The Company has progressively built a team of committed professionals across its Project 
Engineering, Facility Management, Investment and corporate offices. Emphasis on training 
and development of the workforce has been the focus area. Additionally, competency 
building programs for leadership and management development, safety and various 
engagement initiatives have been undertaken to sustain the employees’ motivation and 
maintain a harmonious work place.  

The training programs conducted during the year based on the training need analysis is 
given in the Table 2 below.

Table 2: Training details 
Training Course Training Participants

iOSH 1 14

HSE Leadership 1 10

Strategy Execution Course 1 2

Total 3 26
 
Due to COVID-19, training programs were cancelled and hence only 2 training were done in 
Nov & Dec 2020.
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Corporate Social Responsibility
The Company has joined hands with Tawasul Charitable Organization which aims to provide 
financial support and fund projects for the benefit of local communities in the Special 
Economic Zone at Duqm (SEZAD) in particular and Al Wusta Governorate in general to 
promote sustainable economic and social development. 

During the year, Company participated in various events arranged by OPAZ, support for 
events like Ramadan donation, football, beach cleaning etc.

Health, Safety and Environment (HSE)
Performance overview:

This section provides a summary of what HSE does, our purpose, the key risks to the 
achievement of our objectives, and how we have performed during the year.

Summary statement from Acting In-charge of HSE:

The passion and professionalism of those who work for HSE and their commitment to 
reducing risk, protecting people and the environment, and to saving lives are impressive. We 
are proud to lead a community dedicated to upholding the core principle that everybody, no 
matter their job, deserves a safe working environment.

The major focus during the year was on implementing the HSE Standards and on taking 
initiatives to overcome the situation of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Regular communication 
was done with all the staff, contractors and sub-contractors.

Table1: HSE Key Performance Indicators 
Performance Indicator  2020 2019

Fatalities 0 0

LTI 0 0

No. of car damages 0 0

Table 2: HSE Training 
Sr. No Particulars Participants 2020 Participants 2019

1 iOSH 14 7

2 Safety Leadership (OXY) 10 -

3 Environmental Awareness   - 4

4 Electrical Safety Rules (ESR) - 4

5 First Aid + CPR - 2

6 NEBOSH - 2

7 Dealing with Hazard & Risk - 7

8 Environmental Awareness   - 4

9 Building Evacuation Exercise - 1

10 Fire Fighting - 13
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As well as highlighting our delivery across a wide range of regulatory 
activities throughout the year, this report reflects some of our key 
achievements in a number of areas, including:

·	 Leading and engaging with others to improve workplace health 
and safety.

·	 Providing an effective regulatory framework.
·	 Securing effective management and control of risk.
·	 Reducing the likelihood of low-frequency, high-impact 

catastrophic incidents.
·	 Enabling improvement through efficient and effective delivery.
·	 Following up for COVID-19.

Staff (HSE) trainings:

One of the foundations with practical experience has assisted the 
HSE unit in giving specific trainings to HSE representatives at the 
organization’s base office in Duqm.

Offer motivational rewards:

HSE unit participated with one of the companies which control the 
projects to encourage and motivate the employees who adhere to 
the rules of the HSE.
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COVID-19:

The HSE unit has dealt fully with the Coronavirus and reduced the 
severity of its spread among the employees. We have isolated the 
employees who have been confirmed, and who have contacted them 
with institutional isolation following all the required conditions during 
their follow-up and provide their needs.

Follow-up of those infected with Coronavirus in the corporate 
camps:

 

The HSE unit provided all the assistance, including advice and 
guidance to companies working on projects, and follow with them 
from time to time, to limit the spread of the virus.
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Workshops:

The HSE unit conducted awareness workshops on word related 
health and safety inside and outside the organization.
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Field hospital: 

The HSE unit, together with SEZAD, equipped the field hospital for COVID-19 
patients at the IP4 camps.
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PROJECTS 
MANAGEMENT 
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As per the Project Management Agreement with 
SEZAD, Company is responsible for managing 
and implementing all public and development 
projects in the area allocated to it by SEZAD, 
especially the strategic infrastructure projects 
that support investments within the Zone.

During the year 2020, the company completed 
and handed over three strategic port projects, 
Service Corridor, Internal Road projects, 
Substation for providing Power at Liquid 
Berth. The overall cost of completed projects 
is RO 163 million. Port Projects package 2 and 
package 3 currently in the operational phase, 
handed over buildings to the end used Port of 
Duqm.

The Liquid and Bulk Berth project has been 
handed over to Duqm Refinery for package 3 
EPC development under their supervision.

Service Corridor facilitating the connection 
between the Duqm Refinery producing 
deliverable and Liquid and Bulk berth for direct 
shipping to ship arrive at the port of Duqm.  

Jurf and Saay Dam construction has been 
completed in Q1 of 2020. The advantage of 
this project is to protect the Duqm city from 
the heavy storm or cyclone and the discharge 
stream of both Dam is connected to the three-
stream channel which leads to discharge into 
the Arabian sea. The design capacity of both 
constructed Dam is 50 million cubic meters. 
Already the strengthened storage capacity 
has been proven in September 2019 during the 
heavy storm HIKKA cyclone at Duqm. 

In the year 2020, the company has managed 
and supervised around 21 projects. There are 
around 15 construction projects and  6 design 
projects with a total cost of RO. 977 million.  
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The company has completed projects from 2015 to 2020 there are 
a total of 46 nos. Detailed brief on completed projects is around 
28 construction projects, 10 design projects, 4 earthworks, and 4 
maintenance.  The cost of projects that have been supervised till 
the 2020 year with amount RO. 522 million. RO. 498 million is the 
cost of construction projects, RO. 19 million is the cost of consulting 
services, RO. 3.9 million for the earthworks, and RO. 1.2 million for a 
maintenance project.

The company managed in-house supervision of 7 projects in 2020 
to save around RO. 12.4 million namely Aman Road, Showroom 
road, STP, water network, storeroom & maintenance, substation 
installation at Liquid Berth, HDPS pipe culvert.

The management is conducting regular meeting with all project’s 
stakeholders, consultants and contractors on regular basis to achieve 
the planned completion date and also providing the technical 
support with its experienced engineering team. Management is 
also visiting the project sites to meet the Contractor’s and resolve 
the critical and unforeseen site issues and add value to resolve the 
issue from the bottle neck in a timely manner.

Tatweer being project manager providing extended support to 
SEZAD on the closing of projects issues which are critical and 
evaluating assessment report for variation to projects, claims, 
the disputed matter between consultant and the contractor, 
contractual settlement with both the parties in compliance with 
standard contract condition.

The summary of the projects managed and supervised in given in 
below table:

Summary on Number of Projects
Stage of Project Construction 

Projects
Consultancy 

Projects
On-going 10 14

Tendering stage 2 1

TOR preparation 2 0

Completed projects 
(2016-2020)

39 7

Total 53 22
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Projects Achieved in 2020
Completed Design Projects 
C20/2014 Duqm 
Port Package IP7

Consultancy Services for Project Definition, FEED and 
Supervision of the New Liquid Bulk Berths in the Port of 
Duqm.

C79/2017 
Consultancy service

Construction supervision of the Utility Service Corridor for 
Duqm Refinery.

Completed Construction Projects 
Package 2(IP2) Construction of Roads, Infra & Buildings at Commercial 

Terminal and Operational Zone Areas.

Package 3 (IP3) Construction of Roads, Infra & Buildings at the Commercial 
Berth, Gates and Insp Zone, Port of Duqm.

C99/2018 Design & Construction of service road at Aman District in 
Duqm.

C80/2017 EPC for Detailed Design & Construction of Duqm Refinery 
Service Corridor to Liquid Jetty.

C114/2019 Construction of HDPE Culvert and Diversion.

C113/2019 Substation for Providing Power for Street Lighting for 
Liquid Berth Project.

Contract C76/2016 Construction of Jurf & Saay Flood Protection Dams.

List of Consultancy Projects:
S/No. On-going Consultancy Projects.

Road Section

1
Contract C1/2013 – Consultancy Services for Design & Supervision of Roads & 
Infrastructure in Town of Duqm-Package 1.

2
Contract C36/2015 – Consultancy services for design and supervision of 
Roads Nos. 1 & 5 and drainage systems at Duqm Port.

Fishery Marine Port  Section

3
Contract C70/2016 – Consultancy services for construction supervision of 
the Fishery Port at Duqm.

Naval Berth Section.
Port Section

4
C100/2018 – Consultancy services for Design Review & Construction of a 
new Naval Berth at Port of Duqm.
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List of On-going Construction Projects
S/No. On-going Construction Projects.

Road Section
1 C81/2017 – Construction of Road Nos 1 & 5 and Drainage Systems at  

Duqm Port.

2 C117/2020-Construction - Dualization of Sultan said Bin Taimur Road (NR-32 
Southwards).

Port Section

3 C74/2016 – Construction of Fishery Port (marine and road related works) at 
Duqm.

Utility Section
4 C90/2017 – Water Distribution Network Expansion at SEZAD Tender.

5 C105/2019 – Street Light O&M and Construction of Store / control room.

6 C108/2019 – Design & Construction of Sewage Treatment Plant for Duqm City.

Projects in Tender stage
S/No. Consultancy Projects.

1 ET07/2018- Consultancy Services for Design and Construction Supervision of 
Onshore Facilities and Associated Infrastructure of the Fisher Port in Duqm.

S/No. Construction Projects.
2 T02/2019 - Construction - Dualization of Sultan said Bin Taimur Road (NR-32 

Southwards).

3 T4/2019 – EPC for Government Multi-Purpose Berth at Port of Duqm.

Tatweer Completed Projects in 2020:

Port Project Package 2 : Construction of Roads, Infra & Buildings at Commercial Terminal 
and Operational Zone Areas.

Package 2 is one of the largest infrastructure projects in SEZAD at Duqm and its completion 
affirmed its pride to the OCDS (Tatweer). Tatweer as Project Management in Duqm harnessed 
all the capabilities since construction to the completion of project as planned and implement 
accordingly inspite of came across many challenges. Tatweer able to complete the project 
on time and handover to the end user for operation phase.

IP2 Port Project View
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Tatweer has expertise in buildings works 
and has managed other buildings projects 
executed and completed in SEZAD at 
Duqm.

Port Project Package 3 : Construction of 
Roads, Infra & Buildings at the Commercial 
Berth, Gates and Insp Zone, Port of Duqm 

Third Package consist of integrated 
facilities for import and export through 
Duqm Port. This package will facilitate the 
facilities for suppliers and exporters as its 
scope of work consist of many buildings 
and facilities in commercial berth area 
before the main gates through which 
trucks enter the container terminal and 
other terminals at the commercial berth.

One stop-shop building comprises of two 
zones: the gate and pregate area and the 
inspection area. The first zone includes the 
gate and the exit and entry compartments. 
The purpose of one-stop-shop building is 
to organize the importers and exporter 
will complete their transactions through 
the port. This zone not limited to gates, 
further consist of pass office building, truck 
registration building and other electrical 
service and firefighting buildings.

Inspection area comes under second 
zone, provide facility to Royal Oman 
Police Custom, the Ministry of Health, and 
the Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries, 
in addition to initial inspection and x-ray 
areas, electrical service and firefighting 
buildings.

In addition to this, this package consists 
of 8 km long roads with various cross 
sections along with all internal roads to 
reach buildings and parking lots, paving 
parking lots to serve all activities, traffic 
lights. Infrastructure work includes of 
potable water network, firefighting 
network, sewerage network, storm water 
drainage, pump stations, electrical works, 
telecommunication, street & yard lighting, 
fencing and secondary gates.  

Package-4: Construction of Roads, Infra & 
Building Works at the Government Berth 
Area, Port of Duqm:

In 2019, Tatweer has completed the 
government berth in the port of Duqm. 
This is close to the commercial berth and 
function to provide the important security 
facilities in the Port of Duqm, facilitate 
to manage the logistics operations of 
a number of government bodies and a 
extensive role in providing the security 
services for the Port and SEZAD at Duqm.

The basic purpose of this birth is related 
to the government berth infrastructure 
included constructing the buildings of the 
Oman Royal Yacht Squadron, the Sultan’s 
Special Force, the Royal Navy of Oman, 
and the Coast Guard of the Royal Oman 
Police and other administrative offices and 
maintenance workshops.  

IP3 Port Project View
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In addition to this project, work also 
included utility and road network 
infrastructure, traffic signals etc. 

Project has been handed over to 
the Government stakeholders and in 
operational phase since Q2 2019.

Liquid Berth:  

Duqm Port has become a major 
transshipment hub for liquid bulk and also 
overall port of Duqm to become a transit 
port connecting the East with West as 
all the packages are completed and in 
operation stage by the end user i.e. Port of 
Duqm Company.

The Duqm Liquid Bulk Berth, as it is 
formally reffered as a landmark in its own 
right.

The first stage scope consists of an area 
of 79 hectares adjacent to the secondary 

breakwater of 4.6 km were developed 
to construct the liquid and bulk material 
berth, and the double berth anchorage 
was constructed with attachments and 
marine navigation tools. Also constructed 
a 980-metre quay wall installed along 
with the buyos and navigational aids, 
deepening of the port basin to – 18 meters 
and approach channel to – 19 meters, 
dredging and reclamation works, and the 
establishment of a new twin berth jetty 
island. Project has been completed in 
two phases. Phase 1 accomplishment of 
completion held in 2019 was delivered to 
Duqm Refinery Company and Phase 2 in 
second quarter of 2020.

The storage capacity planned at the Bulk 
Liquid Terminal will cater to a variety of 
refined products emerging from the Duqm 
refinery and a system of pipelines running 
from the refinery to the berth to direct 
loading of ships. 

Twin Berth Jetty

IP7 Liquid Berth Project View
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Completion of  Service Corridor 
between Dump Refinery and  
Liquid and bulk materials berth: 

Completion of service corridor connecting 
the Duqm Refinery with liquid and bulk 
berth material at the Duqm Port. The length 
of the corridor is 6.5 km and its width is 
37.2 meters. Duqm Refinery subcontractor 
laying pipes which included a number of 
facilities utilize for transportation of liquid 
oil derivatives to storage units on the liquid 
and bulk berth.

Completion of Jurf & Saay Flood 
Protection Dams: 

The designed storage capacity of Duqm 
protection dams is 50 million cubic meters 
of water. The system is designed to aim 
at protecting major projects in SEZAD 
at Duqm including Port of Duqm, Duqm 
Refinery, and other projects too.

The height of the Wadi Jurf dam is about 
19.4 meters and extends for 1600 meters 
while its width at the base is about 100 
meters and its thickness increases as 
it rises to reach 8 meters at the end. Its 
lake has a storage capacity of 32.8 million 
cubic meters of flood and wadi water. The 
Wadi Saay Dam is 16.4 meters high, 3,665 
meters long, and 100 meters wide. The 
dam accommodates about 17 million cubic 
meters of water in case of wadi surface 
runoff.

Constructed Dams were proven resistant 
before completion in Sep 2019 the storm 
tropical cyclone, HIKKA with rainfall 
intensity was 119 mm.

Service Cooridor

Dams in Duqm

Dams in Duqm
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Completion of service road at 
Aman District in Duqm: 

This agreement includes to serve a service 
road access to Royal Oman Police and 
intersect with the main road, “Sultan 
Qaboos Road” that connects the Duqm 
Airport with the Port.

The total constructed road length is 11 km 
with roundabouts, junctions, and link road 
access to the stakeholder’s plots.

The project is completed on time and in 
the operation stage.

Completion of Construction of 
Service Road (Extension) at 
Showroom in Duqm: 

The service road extension project at 
the showroom consisting of the length 
of service road extension is 1.09 km on 
the southern end and 1.77 km on the 
northern end. The overall extended 
length of the service road will be approx. 
2.86 km from the SEZAD HQ building 
service road. The constructed road is 
serving to allocated investor plots and 
constructed new existing buildings near 
to SEZAD HQ building.

Ongoing Construction Projects: 

Fishery Port 

Fishing Port is ideally situated in the 
vicinity of food industries zone occupying 
an area of 7 square kilometers designed to 
meet the basic needs of investments set 
to be localized. Construction completion  
Fishery Port will be by Quarter 2 of 2021 
and port will be in operation.

Features of the Fishing Port :

•	 Road Works : Design and Construction 
of Access Road (TAR15) from existing 
Asphalt Road to Fishery Industries 
development area, length 14,638.492 m.

•	 Marine Works : 2.2 km long
- Shore connected Rubble mound East 

Breakwater of Length 2,164.40 m.
- Shore connected Rubble mound 

West Breakwater of Length 
1,096.70 m.

•	 Secondary breakwater: is 1.1 km long. 
Both Breakwaters will be externally 
protected by Core-Loc™ concrete 
armour units.  
- Area of Basin 1,126,516 m2.
- Internal Reclamation Area 346,931 m2.

•	 Total length of: Jetties Km long 1.2

•	 Port’s depth: 10 metres

The Port serves local fishermen, 
commercial fishing ships, livestock ships 
and ships designated for transporting 
foodstuff.

Aman Road

Fishery Port (pantoons)
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Construction of Road Nos 1 & 5 and 
Drainage Systems at Duqm Port: 

Roads (1) and (5) have been completed 
since 2019 and open for traffic usage. 
Both roads are key projects in SEZAD as 
they connect the Port of Duqm with the 
Duqm Refinery and many other strategic 
projects, which are being implemented in 
the heavy and medium industries zones.

In addition, Road (1) marks an easily 
accessible connection between Duqm 
Refinery and Renaissance Village, which 
is home for many of those working at the 
refinery project.

And, Road No (5) starts at the existing 
intersection connecting roads (1) and (6) 
up to the berth of liquid and bulk materials 
at the Port of Duqm. 

The construction of two service roads 
extending to 6.7 km long has completed 
in December 2020. Other works including 
the installation of new LED lighting, 
implementation of soil improvement 
works and construction of water drainage 
channels under progress and will be 
completed by Quarter 2 of 2021.

Fishery Port
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Construction of Water Distribution 
Network Expansion at SEZAD: 

This project is of an EPC nature and is 
supervised by Tatweer in an Engineer role 
with a well professional in-house team.

The project of RO. 2.3 million aims at 
supplying potable water to several sites 
and investment under construction and 
future projects in SEZAD at Duqm, notably 
the zones of Light Industries, Heavy 
Industries, Medium and Light Industries, 
and Rock Garden.

Water Supply Networking length of 17 
km is completed and handed over to the 
PAEW to start in the operational phase 
and to facilitate the investors with potable 
water supply. 

There is Elevated Water Tank 500m 3 x 
40-meter-tall, Booster Pumping Station, 
Control room which is under construction 
currently. Assuming the completion of 
balance work will by Quarter 2 of 2021.    

Design & Construction of Sewage 
Treatment Plant for Duqm City:

The contract is an Engineering Procurement 
Construction (EPC) project for the Design 
and construction of a Sewage Treatment 
Plant for Duqm City. The overall capacity 
of the new STP is 2,500m 3/day which 
will be built in phase 1. The scope includes 
process tanks, complete with mechanical 
equipment, electrical, instrumentation, 
automation, and SCADA system.

Installation of Penstocks at STP
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Feature of STP:

•	 SBR process with 4 SBR tank concept 
is to be adopted for the process 
treatment.

•	 Capacity to receive 480m 3/day of 
industrial wastewater treatment (which 
will be mainly from fish processing 
wastewater) and rest of wastewater is 
domestic sewage.

•	 UASB tank.
•	 Treat Plant will receive water from the 

Duqm city and will be completed and 
in operational phase by Q2 2021.

USAB AT STP
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FACILITIES 
MANAGEMENT

Company manages various facilities within 
the special economic zone by ensuring 
availabilities, operational efficiencies 
and compliance to QHSE. The company 
currently manages assets of SEZAD such 
as STP, HQ Building, Roads, Dams & 
Channels, Street Lights and Traffic Signal 
Lights and other upcoming assets going 
forward.

38 TATWEER  
Oman Company for the Development of Special Economic Zone at Al- Duqm (S.A.O.C)



In order to get directly connected to 
the users and in order to be quick to 
respond to the needs of users, Tatweer 
has launched a hot line (Free calling 
number 80002222) to receive all type of 
service requests related to the general 
infrastructure and services, Tatweer is also 
in process to introduce Computer Aided 
Facility Management (CAFM) system to 
provide facility management solutions in 
Duqm in time and cost effective manners.

Tatweer would continue to thrive to 
improve standards of its services and 
accordingly, it is in process to tie up with 
leading service providers so as to gain 
benefits from their experience across 
other countries and develop robust work 
practices for facilities management in 
Duqm.  

Company has started with operation and 
maintenance of SEZAD assets firstly by 
utilizating existing department staff and 
growing with confidence. Therefore, it 
reflects saving time and costs compared 
to previous practice of outsourcing. The 
savings in cost is significant to SEZAD and 
with passage of time and gaining more 
expertise the savings will increase.

Tatweer shall excel to become the ultimate 
provider of sustainable and technology-
driven complete facilities management 
services throughout the SEZAD which 
satisfies the needs and, exceeds the 
expectations of our customers, business 
partners and other stakeholders.

•	 Ensure safe operations of the facilities
•	 Achieve desired performance 

(availability, production) from the 
facilities 

•	 Ensure health of the assets at optimal 
cost

•	 Minimize operating costs for the assets 
•	 Bring best facilities management 

practices to Duqm
•	 Adopt suitable assets management 

strategy (Own / Outsource / Mixed)

The Department is also keen to introduce 
software technology in the management, 
operation and maintenance of facilities 
through the provision of equipment, 
devices and programs that facilitate 
operations.

Operations & Maintenance of 
SEZAD HQ Building:

Provide operation, maintenance and 
supervision of all equipment at SEZAD HQ 
building in Duqm, for 24 hours per day and 
365 days per year. Maintain excellent all 
equipment’s performance and to achieve 
within limits as specified by the original 
manufacturer of the all equipment’s, and 
complies with the   guidelines stipulated 
by ‘the client’ (SEZAD).

Maintenance of Roads in Duqm:

Maintenance and repair of both the 
existing and upcoming. It includes the 
main carriageways and service roads, 
parking areas including paved and 
unpaved medians, islands, roundabouts, 
traffic junctions, walkways, safety barriers, 
guard rails, bollards and chains, culverts, 
drains, manholes, and sumps, etc. within 
the right-of-way of roads in Duqm City.
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Operations & Maintenance of 
2,000 m3/day STP in Duqm:

Provide operation, maintenance and 
supervision of the 2,000 m3/day Sewage 
Treatment Plant in Duqm for 24 hours 
per day and 365 days per year. Maintain 
excellent plant performance and to 
achieve the treated effluent parameters 
within limits as specified by the original 
manufacturer of the STP and complies with 
the requirement of Ministry of Regional 
Municipalities and Environment and as per 
the requirement and guidelines stipulated 
by ‘the client’ (SEZAD).

Operations & Maintenance of IP4 
STP in Duqm:

Provide operation, maintenance and 
supervision of the 75 m3/day Sewage 
Treatment Plant in Duqm for 24 hours 
per day and 365 days per year. Maintain 
excellent plant performance and to 

achieve the treated effluent parameters 
within limits as specified by the original 
manufacturer of the STP and complies with 
the requirement of Ministry of Regional 
Municipalities and Environment and as per 
the requirement and guidelines stipulated 
by ‘the client’ (SEZAD).

Duqm Street Lights:

Operation and Maintenance of is applicable 
to all SQ road, Airport road, Tourist 
road, Said Bin Taimoor road, All the port 
roads(IP1), Karwa road, ROP access road 
and SEZAD-HQ Building service road.

Traffic Signal Lights:

Operation and maintenance shall start from 
point of LV feeder pillar to the controller, 
including but not limited to all connections, 
cables, traffic lights controllers, signal 
heads, poles etc.
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Duqm Beach Camp:

Supervising the implementation and 
construction of Duqm beach camp 
and providing operation, maintenance 
and supervision of all camp facilities, in 
Duqm for a period of 24 hours a day and 
365 days a year. Maintaining excellent 
performance of all equipment and camp 
facilities achieving it within the limits 
specified by the original manufacturer of 
all equipment, and complying with the 
guidelines stipulated by the “customer” 
(SEZAD).

Grading of new roads and the 
access:

Supervising the preparation and Grading 
of roads and entrances that make it easier 
for investors to access their projects.
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INVESTMENTS

OBJECTIVE AND STRATEGY

The Company’s objective is to act a catalyst for investments 
in Duqm. This is done by investing minority equity and acting 
as a Local Minority Investments Partner for projects in Duqm. 
Company co-invests into businesses which are enabler and 
economically sustainable so as to maximize shareholders’ 
value in long run.
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Tatweer takes an approach that aligns 
with overall objectives of SEZAD. Tatweer 
participates with the right player in 
the respective industry on the basis of 
strengths of the project. On the other hand, 
Tatweer also develops business case and 
market the same to potential investors to 
come and invest in Duqm. Each investment 
by the Company is limited to minority 
stake unless the situation so require. 
Tatweer prefers to execute the investment 
opportunity through a professionally and 
independently managed company.

As a local minority partner Tatweer extends 
local support to project developers such 
as: 
•	 Assists Investors on various fronts viz. 

site selection, company registration, 
clearances.

•	 Helps Investor in getting access to 
debt funds from local banks .

•	 Invests with minority equity – in cash 
or by land lease rights.

•	 Brings in local fund houses for 
participation through equity / quasi 
debt.

Tatweer will also take up those projects 
which are required to stimulate investments 
in SEZAD and which do not offer quick 
financial returns.  Private Companies 
may not be interesting to develop such 
projects, however, if such projects are 
needed for stimulating other investments 
or are required for value enhancement 
of Duqm, Tatweer would take up such 
projects. The Company can establish such 
projects and exit / dilute at later stage. For 

such projects, the Company shall require 
additional equity support / viability gap 
funding. 

Once the investment is made, the 
investment would be monitored and would 
also be considered for timely dilution or 
exit. 

Currently the Company is solely dependent 
on the equity subscribed by the parent 
organization i.e. SEZAD. Against the 
Authorized Capital of RO 7 million, the 
Company has paid up equity of RO 3.5 
million. 

In future, depending on the requirements, 
additional equity could be brought to the 
Company for its investments in various 
projects. The Company would evaluate 
options of raising additional equity from 
other sources including other investors, 
debt from parent organization or lenders 
etc. The Company would also explore the 
ways to invest in lieu of the usufruct and 
other charges to be collected by SEZAD 
from the users of the economic zone. 
Dividend earnings from the investments 
and proceedings from part/full equity sale 
would also become a source of funding for 
new investments.

The Company, in coming future, also 
envisages to establish funds focused for 
investments in Duqm. Such funds would 
act as a bridge between the project 
developers on one hand and the fund 
houses, on the other hand.
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Disclaimer: OPAZ assume no responsibility 
for the result of any actions taken on the 
basis of information contained in this mail 
and any file transmitted with it, nor for 
the accuracy, adequacy, completeness, of 
reasonableness of any material contained 
herein. OPAZ also disclaims liability for 
any errors in, or omissions from, such 
information and material. 

EMDAAD LOGISTICS SAOC: 

The Company has partnered with Ministry 
of Defence Pension Fund and Port of 
Duqm Company SAOC to establish a 
logistic company to provide the logistic 
services in Duqm zone. The Company has 
participated with RO 75,000 to acquire 
minority equity stake of 15%. The Company 
has entered into Shareholders’ Agreement 
with other two shareholders in March, 
2018. 

Emdad Logistics is a profitable venture, 
currently servicing one large size 
customer. The Company has already 
secured confirmation for expansion of 
services from the same customer for even 
larger area.  Discussions are also on with 
other foreign customers for setting up 
their logistic base in Duqm. 

INVESTMENTS (UNDER 
EXECUTION) 

DUQM MATERIAL MARKET SAOC:

The Company decided to partner with 
a Chinese developer and a local Omani 
fund to establish a company to construct 
the building Material market to be hub 
for Oman and other GCC countries. The 
Company has invested RO 440,000 for 
minority equity stake of 15%. 

INVESTMENTS (OPERATIONAL)

DUQM QUARRIES SAOC:

Tatweer invested in Duqm Quarries SAOC 
in 2017, along with Local Community 
Companies representing Duqm. The 
Company started commercial operations 
in 2017 with the help of rented machinery. 
The Company successfully grew over a 
period of time to witness revenue of OMR 
3.1m in 2020 with a healthy net profit of 
OMR 469K.

While the Company has been run by its own 
independent professional management, 
during the last three years, Tatweer has 
actively supported the Company to grow 
and achieve its true potential. Tatweer 
bridged the equity gap at the time of 
establishment and, also encouraged 
the business operations through rented 
machinery pending commissioning of the 
fixed crusher. This allowed the Company 
to generate revenue and profits within first 
twelve months of operations. Rigorous, 
continuous monitoring and support has 
enabled the Company to establish good 
governance and establish it as a leading 
quarrying company within Al Wusta region 
and Oman. The Company is now exploring 
opportunities to do explore possibilities of 
commercialization of minerals in Duqm.

As on 31st December, 2020, in line with the 
strategy of Government of Oman, Tatweer 
has sold its 70% stake in the company 
to Mineral Development of Oman, newly 
established flagship company by the 
Government of Oman for mining and 
mineral processing activities.

Tatweer Investments recorded an 
impressive CAGR of 33% for its first 
completed investment cycle in Duqm 
Quarries SAOC.
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INVESTMENTS (POTENTIAL 
OPPORTUNITIES)

The Company is considering various other 
investment opportunities in the field of 
utility services such as water solutions,  
fishery zone development, housing 
solutions, chemicals, retail, airport zone 
development etc. Not all the opportunities 
may materialize with the final investment 
decision, however, the Company would 
take up decisions based on the enabling 
element of the investment opportunity for 
overall SEZAD development and economic 
feasibility of the investment.

The Project would involve setting up 
warehousing, processing and storage 
facility for the users who would market 
and sell building material products from 
this destination to various customers in 
Oman and other neighboring countries. 
Overall project would cover 163430-meter 
square, however, in the first phase, the 
project would be developed across 
71,809-meter square of land to provide 
warehouses (8,150 m2), storage (4,838 
m2) and showrooms (16,868 m2).

Duqm Material Market, in December 2019, 
successfully closed its debt funding with 
the help of local bank. Tatweer has actively 
supported the Company to achieve 
its financial closure. The Shareholders 
have fully paid required equity in the 
project. The contractor for the project 
has been identified and the project would 
commence construction in early 2020. 

Tatweer is also serving this project as 
Project Management and Supervision 
consultant during its construction phase. 
  
COMMUNITY ACCOMMODATION 
PROJECT : 

Tatweer is exploring the possibility of 
taking up an accommodation project for 
workers and residents of Duqm . The project 
would be a step to build community living 
in Duqm where employees of different 
organizations would enjoy post-work life 
with comfort, peace and serenity.

Tatweer is considering inviting the private 
sector, particularly the major Real Estate 
Developers in Oman to participate in 
the project via a Request for Investment 
Proposal (RFIP). Moreover, Tatweer is 
considering a minority

stake in the project for Local Community 
Companies (LCC) based in Al-Wusta 
region.
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 

Company Philosophy 

The company’s board consists of all 
independent and non-executive directors 
and their functions and duties align with 
the provisions of Commercial Companies 
Law and the Articles of Association of 
the company. The Board has constituted 
4 committees namely Audit Committee, 
Executive Committee, Internal Tender 
Committee and HR Committee. 

The company has implemented manuals 
for internal regulations. The transactions 
with stakeholders are in the normal course 
of business and are at arm’s length. 
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Board of Directors

Composition of the Board 

The Board comprises of 5 members, all of 
whom are nominated by OPAZ.

Members of the Board

The details of the Directors of the company 
holding their office as on 31 December 
2020 and their membership in the board 
of other companies in the Sultanate of 
Oman are as follows:

Board of Directors

Dr. Rashid bin Ali Al Balushi
Chairman
(Managing Director, Iskan Oman 
Investment Company SAOC)

•	 Nominated by OPAZ
•	 Non Executive/Independent Director
•	 Chairman of other Boards – 2
•	 Member of other Boards – 4
•	 Member of other committee – 2

Sheikh Salah bin Hilal Al Mawaali
Member
(CEO, SME Development Fund)

•	 Nominated by Ministry of Commerce 
& Industry

•	 Non Executive/Independent Director
•	 Chairman of other Boards – Nil
•	 Member of other Boards – 4
•	 Member of other committee – 2

Mr. Sulaiman bin Hamed Al Harthy
Member
(CEO of Alizz Islamic Bank)

•	 Nominated by OPAZ
•	 Non Executive/Independent Director
•	 Chairman of other Boards – 1
•	 Member of other Boards – 1
•	 Member of other committee – 3 

Ms. Hamida bint Hamed Al Hashmi 
Member 
(Manager of Development Budgets 
Allocation, Ministry of Finance)

•	 Nominated by Ministry of Finance
•	 Non Executive/Independent Director
•	 Chairman of other Boards – Nil
•	 Member of other Boards – Nil
•	 Member of other committee – 4
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The meetings of the board and the attendances in the various meetings during 2020 are 
given in Table 1 below:
 
Table 1: Meetings of the board and members’ attendance

Name Position
AGM Board meeting

29Mar 
2020

16Mar
2020

05Jul
2020

8Oct
2020

12Jan
2021

Yahya Bin Said Jabri
Chairman 

upto 
22/7/20

Yes Yes Yes NA NA

Dr. Ismail Al Balushi
Chairman 
22/7/20-
9/12/20

NA NA NA Yes NA

Dr. Rashid bin Ali Al Balushi
Chairman 

from 
9/12/20

No Yes Yes Yes Yes

Sheikh Salah bin Hilal Al 
Mawaali

Deputy 
Chairman No Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Sulaiman bin Hamed Al 
Harthy Member No Yes Yes Yes Yes

Ms. Hamida bint Hamed Al 
Hashmi Member No Yes Yes Yes Yes

Audit Committee

A. Terms of Reference
The Board has constituted the Audit Committee pursuant to the Articles of Association and 
its terms of reference include all matters specified under that article.

B. Composition of the Audit committee 
The Audit Committee comprises of three independent and non-executive directors of the 
Company and the details of meetings and attendance are as shown in Table 2 below. 

Table 2: Audit Committee Meetings

Name Position
Date

15Mar
2020

05Jul
2020

6Oct
2020

12Jan
2021

Sheikh Salah bin Hilal Al 
Mawaali, Chairman Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Sulaiman bin Hamed Al 
Harthy Member Yes Yes Yes Yes

Ms. Hamida bint Hamed Al 
Hashmi Member No Yes No Yes

Executive Committee

A. Terms of Reference
The Board has constituted the Executive Committee pursuant to the Articles of Association 
and its terms of reference include all matters specified under that article.
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B. Composition of the Executive Committee 
The Executive Committee comprises of three independent and non-executives directors of 
the Company and the details of meetings and attendance are as shown in Table 3 below. 

Table 3: Executive Committee Meetings

Name Position
Date

15Mar
2020

28Jun
2020

28Sep
2020

27Dec
2020

Mr. Sulaiman bin Hamed Al Harthy Chairman Yes Yes Yes Yes

Dr. Rashid bin Ali Al Balushi Member Yes Yes Yes Yes

Ms. Hamida bint Hamed Al Hashmi Member NA Yes Yes No

Other Committees

The Internal Tender Committee and HR Committee met as and when required. Sometimes 
urgent matters were approved by circulation.

Remuneration Matters

During the year the company paid RO 8,850 (2019: RO. 19,500) towards remuneration to 
the Directors.

Non-compliance by the company

No penalty or strictures have been imposed on the company by Muscat Securities Market/
Capital Market Authority or Ministry of commerce & Industries on any matter related to 
capital market during the year.

Communications with the shareholders and Investors 

The company maintains close liaison with Public Authority for Special Economic Zones and 
Free Zones (OPAZ), the major shareholder and Special Economic Zone at Duqm (SEZAD) 
on various strategic initiatives and policy issues. The company’s financial and operational 
performances are reviewed regularly by monthly reporting to the Executive Committee and 
Audit Committee. The company’s annual report will be forwarded to the shareholders.

Distribution of Shareholding 

The share capital of the company is RO. 3,500,000. As at 31st December 2020 the 
shareholding was as follows:

Table 4: Distribution of Shareholding

Shareholders
Shareholding

RO percent
Public Authority for Special Economic Zones and Free 
Zones 3,500,000 100

Total  share capital 3,500,000 100

The Statutory Auditors

M/s. KPMG were the Statutory Auditors of the Company for the year 2020.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Group Company
Note 2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Revenue 5 6,505,337 7,945,116 3,389,501 3,758,484

Expenses
Staff costs 6  (1,851,464) (1,818,267) (1,540,980) (1,475,577)
Operating expenses 7  (1,799,795) (3,480,079) (303,378) (1,413,686)
Administrative expenses 8  (945,089) (1,344,622) (559,867) (556,204)
Impairment loss for trade 
receivables 16  (304,816) (165,304) - -

Impairment loss on revaluation of 
  free hold land 9 - (88,000) - (88,000)
Depreciation 9 (145,576) (116,913) (26,382) (46,042)

Amortization 10 (1,501) (1,184) - -

Total expenses (5,048,241) (7,014,369) (2,430,607) (3,579,509)

Profit from operations 1,457,096 930,747 958,894 178,975

Gain / (Loss) on sale of 
Subsidiaries (69,466) - 1,163,292 -

Other income 7,283 10,998 1,900 1,998
Interest income 98,508 62,602 88,821 42,648

Finance costs (44,207) (6,088) - -

Profit for the year 1,449,214 998,259 2,212,907 223,621

Other comprehensive income
Equity investments at FVOCI – net 
change in fair value

- 41,720 - 41,720

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

1,449,214 1,039,979 2,212,907 265,341

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company 1,307,786 769,883 2,212,907 223,621

Non-controlling interest 141,428 228,376 - -

  1,449,214 998,259 2,212,907 223,621
Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent 
Company 1,307,786 811,603 2,212,907 265,341

Non-controlling interest 141,428 228,376 - -

  1,449,214 1,039,979 2,212,907 265,341

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Report of the Independent Auditors is set forth on page 2-4
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Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

ASSETS Note RO RO RO RO
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 534,495 1,506,549 534,495 466,953
Intangible asset 10 - 4,230 - -
Mineral exploration and evaluation 
expenditure 11 - 33,720 - -

Investment in subsidiaries 12 - - - 865,000
Equity investment at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income

13 556,720 556,720 556,720 556,720

Term deposits – non-current portion 14 - 561,786 - -

Total non-current assets 1,091,215 2,663,005 1,091,215 1,888,673

Current assets
Receivable from related parties 22 649,632 653,722 649,632 653,722
Inventories 15 - 98,091 - -
Trade and other receivables 16 1,910,589 2,115,314 1,910,589 57,230
Term deposits – current portion 14 - 2,043,230 - 2,043,230
Cash and cash equivalents 17 3,516,967 895,925 3,516,967 122,857

Total current assets 6,077,188 5,806,282 6,077,188 2,877,039

Total assets 7,168,403 8,469,287 7,168,403 4,765,712
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 18 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000
Legal reserve 19 331,038 109,747 331,038 109,747
Fair value reserves 41,720 41,720 41,720 41,720
Retained earnings 2,903,305 1,816,810 2,903,305 911,689

Equity attributable to owner of the 
Company 6,776,063 5,468,277 6,776,063 4,563,156

Non-controlling interest - 817,174 - -

Total equity 6,776,063 6,285,451 6,776,063 4,563,156

LIABILITIES
Non-current liability
Term loan 24 - 345,000 - -
End of service benefits 20 190,171 183,542 190,171 144,052
Total non-current liabilities 190,171 528,542 190,171 144,052
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 202,169 1,395,454 202,169 58,504
Lease liability 25 - 79,840 - -
Current portion of term loan 24 - 180,000 - -

Total current liabilities 202,169 1,655,294 202,169 58,504

Total liabilities 392,340 2,183,836 392,340 202,556
Total equity and liabilities 7,168,403 8,469,287 7,168,403 4,765,712

___________ ____________________ 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Report of the Independent Auditors is set forth on page 2-4.

Consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2020
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Share 
capital

Legal 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
RO RO RO RO RO RO RO

Group

At 1 January 2019 2,500,000 87,385 - 1,069,289 3,656,674 453,798 4,110,472

Issue of share capital 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000

Comprehensive 
income:

Profit for the year - - - 769,883 769,883 228,376 -

Other 
comprehensive 
 income for the year - - 41,720 - 41,720 - 41,720

Net movement in 
non     – controlling 
interest

Minority interest in 
subsidiary - - - - - 135,000 135,000

Transferred to legal 
reserve - 22,362 - (22,362) - - -

At 31 December 
2019 3,500,000 109,747 41,720 1,816,810 5,468,277 817,174 6,285,451

At 1 January 2020 3,500,000 109,747 41,720 1,816,810 5,468,277 817,174 6,285,451

Comprehensive 
income:

Profit for the year - - - 1,307,786 1,307,786 141,428 1,449,214
Net movement in 
non --controlling 
interest

Minority interest in 
subsidiary - - - - - (958,602) (958,602)

Transferred to legal 
reserve - 221,291 - (221,291) - - -

At 31 December 
2020 3,500,000 331,038 41,720 2,903,305 6,776,063 - 6,776,063

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Report of the Independent Auditors is set forth on page 2-4.

Consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2020
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Share 
capital 

Legal 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

At 1 January 2019 2,500,000 87,385 - 710,429 3,297,814

Issue of ordinary 
shares 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

Comprehensive 
income:

Profit for the year - - - 223,622 223,622

Other 
comprehensive 
   income for the 
year 

- - 41,720 - 41,720

Transferred to legal 
reserve

- 22,362 - (22,362) -

At 31 December 
2019 3,500,000

109,747 41,720
911,689 4,563,156

At 1 January 2020 3,500,000 109,747 41,720 911,689 4,563,156

Comprehensive 
income:
Profit for the year - - - 2,212,907 2,212,907
Transferred to legal 
reserve - 221,291 - (221,291) -

At 31 December 
2020 3,500,000 331,038 41,720 2,903,305 6,776,063

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Report of the Independent Auditors is set forth on page 2-4.

Separate statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2020
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year 31 December 2020

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO
Operating activities
Profit for the year 1,449,214 998,259 2,212,907 223,621
Adjustments for:
(Loss)/Gain on sale of Subsidiary 69,466 - (1,163,292) -
Amortization of intangible assets 1,501 1,184 - -
Depreciation 145,576 116,913 26,382 46,042
End of service benefits expense 109,010 119,751 97,261 85,647
Allowance for impairment losses 
  of trade receivables 304,816 165,304 - -
Impairment of freehold land - 88,000 - 88,000
Interest income (98,508) (73,600) (88,821) (44,646)

1,981,075 1,415,811 1,084,437 398,664
Changes in:
Trade and other receivables (100,091) (1,404,637) (1,853,359) (51,525)
Inventories 98,091 (57,911) - -
Receivable from a related party 4,090 (166,632)          4,090 (166,632)
Trade and other payables (1,238,017) 898,394 143,665 (128,866)
Cash generated from / (used in) 
operations 745,148 685,025 (621,167) 51,641

Payments of end of service benefits (102,381) (41,148)      (51,142) (41,147)
Interest income received 98,508 266 88,821 -
Net cash generated from / (used in) 
operating  activities 741,275 644,143 (583,488) 10,494

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (93,924) (746,509) (93,924) (12,637)
Purchase of intangible asset - (1,880) - -
Mineral exploration and evaluation 
expenditure - (27,020) - -

Proceeds/(Placement) of fixed 
deposits 2,043,230 (989,002) 2,043,230 (998,002)

Proceeds from sale of Subsidiaries 2,028,292 - 2,028,292 -
Changes arising from losing control 
of subsidiaries (3,056,433) - - -

Net cash generated from / (used in) 
used in investing activities 921,165 (1,764,411) 3,977,598 (1,175,639)

Financing activities
Proceed from increase of share 
capital - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000

Proceeds from loans and borrowings - 525,000 - -
Net change in non-controlling 
interest 958,602 135,000 - -

Repayment of obligation under 
finance lease - (95,160) - -

Net cash generated from financing 
activities 958,602 1,564,840 - 1,000,000

Net changes in cash and cash 
equivalents 2,621,042 444,572 3,394,110 (165,145)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 895,925 451,353 122,857 288,002

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the year 3,516,967 895,925 3,516,967 122,857

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
Report of the Independent Auditors is set forth on page 2-4.       
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1  Legal status and principal activities 

Oman Company for Development Special Economic Zone Authority Duqm SAOC (OCDSEZAD 
or the company) is a company that is 100% owned by Public Authority for Special Economic 
Zones and Free Zones (OPAZ, the Authority) formerly known as Special Economic Zone 
Authority Al Duqm (SEZAD) and is established under the Commercial Companies Law of 
Oman. The company was incorporated on 7 January 2014.

The principal objectives of the company are to execute the plans and tasks established by 
the Authority, including:

·	 Managing and operating public assets in the Zone;
·	 Developing the land;
·	 Structuring business opportunities;
·	 Marketing and conducting commercial transactions;
·	 Leveraging private sector financing for infrastructure projects for the development 
in Duqm.

The company has budget based arrangement with the Authority in respect of service 
rendered by the company to the Authority.

The Company formed its subsidiary company, Duqm Quarries SAOC on 5 July 2017. The 
principal activities of the subsidary are Operation of Sand and Pebble mines (Crushers), 
Operation of Quarries and Mining of gypsum, anhydrite and other mineral ores. The Company 
sold this subsidiary to Minerals Development Oman with effective date from 30 December 
2020 and therefore had no control as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 70%) of the subsidiary’s 
shares. 

The Company formed another subsidiary company, Duqm Fisheries Investment Company 
LLC on 16 June 2019. The principal activities of the subsidary are Operations of Cargo 
handling stations at seaports, wholesale of fish products and management of industrial 
projects. The Company liquidated this subsidiary during the year based on the audited 
financial statements of 31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019 the company held 55% 
stake in this subsidiary.

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company’s stand-alone financial 
statements, together with the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its 
former subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies are summarised below. These policies are consistently 
applied for all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost except 
for freehold land and equity investments through other comprehensive income stated at 
revalued and fair value amounts respectively, and in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the relevent requirements of Commercial Companies Law 
of 2019.
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies. Changes in 
assumptions may have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in the 
period the assumptions change. Management believes that the underlying assumptions 
are appropriate. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements 
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
        
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless 
of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics 
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for 
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is 
determined on such a basis.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into 
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, 
which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiaries are attributed to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

Upon loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries, 
any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiaries. 
Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income. If the Group retains any interest on entity that 
was a subsidiary in the past, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that the 
control is lost. 

The consolidated financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting 
year as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts 
reported by subsidiaries are adjusted to conform to the group’s accounting policies.

Leases

At inception of a contract the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. 
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of 
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether 
a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses 

62 TATWEER  
Oman Company for the Development of Special Economic Zone at Al- Duqm (S.A.O.C)



whether:

• the contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be specified explicitly or 
implicitly, and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity 
of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the 
asset is not identified;

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of 
the asset throughout  the period of use; and

• the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has this right when it has 
the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose 
the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the 
asset is used is predetermined, the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset if 
either:

• the Group has the right to operate the asset; or
• the Group designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it 

will be used.

(a)  As a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less 
any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 
the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined 
on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain measurements of 
the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, 
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
• variable lease payments (if any) that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured 

using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee (if any); and
• the exercise price under a purchase option (if any) that the Group is reasonably certain 

to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably 
certain to 

• exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the 
Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether 
it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to 
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. The Group presents right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities in separately in the statement of consolidated financial position.
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The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a 
straight-line basis.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-
term leases of property and vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less. The Group 
recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

The Group has not entered into any material arrangement in which it is acting as a Lessee.

(a) As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a 
finance lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If 
this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part 
of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for 
the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and 
the sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to 
the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. 
If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described 
above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term as part of ‘other income’ 

When the Group acts as the intermediate lessor under a finance lease, the Group as a lessor 
recognises a finance lease receivable at an amount equal to its net investment in the lease, 
which 

comprises the present value of the lease payments and unguaranteed residual value accruing 
to the lessor.
Under IFRS 16, the Group classifies the sub-lease as a finance lease as it is for the whole of 
the remaining term of the head lease.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in 
which the financial asset is managed and contractual cash flow characteristics. Under IFRS 
9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the 
standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed 
for classification.

Recognition and Initial measurement of financial instruments

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date 
that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial 
asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. The principal financial instruments used by the 
Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows

1. Trade and other receivables, including receivable from related parties
2. Cash and cash equivalents
3. Other financial assets
4. Trade and other payables, including payable to related parties
5. Investment in FVTOCI

Initial recognition of financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair 
value through other comprehensive income – debt instruments; fair value through other 
comprehensive income – equity instruments; or fair value through profit or loss account.

Financial assets at amortised cost 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated as at fair value through profit or loss account: 

Business model test: The objective of the entity’s business model is to hold the financial 
asset to collect the contractual cash flows (rather than to sell the instrument prior to its 
contractual maturity to realize its fair value changes).

Cash flow characteristics test: The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding.

Business model assessment

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash 
flows. This is whether the Group objective is solely to collect contractual cash flows from 
the assets or is it to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the 
sale of the assets. If neither of these are applicable then the financial assets are classified as 
other business model. Factors  considered by the Group in determining the business model 
for a Group of assets includes the past experience on how the cash flows for the asset were 
collected, how the assets performance was evaluated by the key management personnel, 
how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.

Contractual cash flows comprise of solely payment of principal and interest

Where the Group has a business model to collect contractual cash flows, the Group assesses 
whether the financial instrument cash flows represents solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI). ‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the 
financial asset at initial recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset. 
Interest is defined as consideration for time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal and for other basic lending risks and costs as well as a profit margin.  

In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are 
consistent with the basic lending agreement which means the interest paid only includes 
the consideration for time value of money and credit risk. Financial instruments whose cash 
flows characteristics include elements other than time value of money and credit risk do not 
pass the test and are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Equity instrument which are not held for trading or issued as contingent consideration in 
business combination, and for which the Group has made an irrevocable election at initial 
recognition to recognise changes in fair value through other comprehensive income rather 
than profit or loss. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
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Debt instruments where the contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest and the 
objective of the Group’s business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss accounts 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income as described above are measured at fair value through profit or loss 
account. 

Financial assets, at initial recognition, may be designated at fair value through profit or loss, 
if the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognizing gains or losses on them on a 
different basis; 

Initial recognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit 
or loss account. A financial liability is classified as at fair value through profit or loss account 
if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial 
recognition. 

Financial liabilities, at initial recognition, may be designated at fair value through profit or 
loss if the following criteria are met:

·	 The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on 
a different basis; 

·	 The liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their 
performance evaluated on  fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 
management strategy; or

·	 The financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would otherwise need to be 
separately recorded.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss account are measured at fair value 
and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in the profit or loss 
account

Subsequent measurement and gain or losses of financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in the profit or loss account. Any 
gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in the profit or loss account.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

a)  Debt instruments
 These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using 

the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in the profit or loss account. Other net gains and losses are recognised in 
the statement of other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in the statement of other comprehensive income are reclassified to the 
profit or loss account.
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b)  Equity instruments
 These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as 

income in the profit or loss account unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery 
of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in the 
statement of other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to the profit or loss 
account.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in the profit or loss account. 

Subsequent measurement and gain or losses of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, if applicable. The effective interest method is the method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss 
account. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in the profit or loss account.

Reclassification of financial assets

The Group will only reclassify financial assets if, and only if, the objective of the business 
model for managing those financial assets is changed. Such changes are expected to be very 
infrequent as these changes must be significant to the Group’s operations and demonstrable 
to external parties. 

If he Group determines that its business model has changed in a way that is significant to its 
operations, then it reclassifies all affected assets prospectively from the first day of the next 
reporting period (the reclassification date). Prior periods are not restated.

Reclassification of financial liabilities 

The Group determines the classification of financial liabilities on initial recognition. 
Subsequent reclassification is not allowed.  

Modifications of financial assets 

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows 
of the modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, 
then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have 
expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is 
recognised at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially 
different, then the modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this 
case, the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognises 
the amount arising from adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss 
in the profit or loss account. 

Modifications of financial liabilities

If the terms of a financial liability are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability 
are substantially different then, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is 
recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in the profit or 
loss account
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a Group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognised when:

a) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
b) The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but assumes an 

obligation to  pay them  in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; or

c) The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control 
of the asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the 
asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the 
sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability 
assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in the statement of 
other comprehensive income is recognised in the profit or loss account. 

Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in the  statement of other comprehensive income in 
respect of equity instrument designated as fair value through other comprehensive is not 
recognised in the  profit or loss account on derecognition of such instrument. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the 
Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.  

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered 
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks 
and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues 
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In 
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the 
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the profit or loss account.

Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the 
statement of financial position if, and only if:

	 there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts; and
	 there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously.
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Impairment of financial assets

The impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, contract 
assets receivables, lease receivables and debt investments at FVOCI, but not on investments 
in equity instruments. The financial assets at amortized cost consist of trade receivables, 
investment and cash and cash equivalents. 

Under IFRS 9, loss allowance are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12 month ECL: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within 12 months 
after the reporting date; and 

- Lifetime ECL: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument.

The Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the 
following, which are measured as 12- month ECLs:

- Financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
- Finance assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected 

life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

General approach
The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring ECL. Assets migrate through the 
three stages based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.  Financial assets 
with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but not credit impaired, are 
transitioned to stage 2 from stage 1 and ECL is recognized based on the probability of 
default (PD) of the counter party occurring over the life of the asset. All other financial 
assets are considered to be in stage 1 unless it is credit impaired and an ECL is recognized 
based on the PD of the customer within next 12 months.  Financial assets are assessed as 
credit impaired when there is a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset. The Group applies general approach to all financial assets except trade 
receivable without significant financing component. 

Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This 
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward- looking 
information.

Default 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay 
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as 
realising security (if any is held) or based on the certain delinquency period (days past due).

Simplified approach
The Group applies simplified approach to measuring credit losses, which mandates 
recognition of lifetime expected loss allowance for trade receivables without significant 
financing component. Under simplified approach, there is no need to monitor for significant 
increases in credit risk and the Group will be required to measure lifetime expected credit 
losses at all times

Measurement of ECLs:
ECLs are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as 
the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the 
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). 
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. The maximum period 
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group 
is exposed to credit risk.
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Credit- impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised 
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred.

Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the 
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the 
Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could 
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, 
financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to 
comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Presentation of impairment

Loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets. Impairment losses related to financial assets are presented 
separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group recognizes revenue from contracts with customers based on the five-step model 
set out in IFRS 15:

Step 1 Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement 
between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out 
the criteria for every contract that must be met.

Step 2 Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a 
unit of account and a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to 
the customer.

Step 3 Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration 
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or 
services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Step 4 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: 
For a contract that has more than one performance obligation, the Group will allocate the 
transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the consideration 
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance 
obligation.

Step 5 Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time, if one of the 
following criteria is met:

- The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 
Group’s performance as and when the Group performs; or

- The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 
asset is created or enhanced; or

- The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group 
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

For performance obligations where none of the above conditions are met, revenue is 
recognized at the point in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied.
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Cost of obtainment and fulfilment 

The Group capitalizes incremental costs to obtain a contract with a customer except if the 
amortization period for such costs is less than one year. 

If the costs incurred in fulfilling a contract with a customer are not in the scope of other 
guidance - e.g. inventory, intangibles, or property, plant and equipment - then the Group 
recognizes an asset only if the fulfilment costs meet the following criteria:

·	 Relate directly to an existing contract or specific anticipated contract;
·	 Generate or enhance resources that will be used to satisfy performance obligations in 

the future; and 
·	 Are expected to be recovered.

If the costs incurred to fulfil a contract are in the scope of other guidance, then the Group 
accounts for such costs using the other guidance.
The Group amortizes the asset recognized for the costs to obtain and/or fulfil a contract on 
a systematic basis, consistent with the pattern of transfer of the good or service to which the 
asset relates. In the case of an impairment, the Group recognizes these losses to the extent 
that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the recoverable amount.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the profit or loss when the control has been 
passed to the customer i.e. when goods are delivered, accepted by the customer and the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. There is no change in revenue recognition policy 
as the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the goods are transferred to 
the buyer at the same time.
 
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the profit or loss over the period service 
is provided to the customer as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as and when the Group performs. Revenue 
is recognized in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction in the accounting 
period in which the services are rendered and the right to receive the consideration is 
established. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding the 
recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.

End of service benefits and leave entitlements
  
End of service benefits are accrued in accordance with the terms of employment of 
the Group’s employees at the statement of financial position date, having regard to the 
requirements of the Oman Labour Law, as amended. The group has a policy of providing end 
of service benefits to its employees equal to one month of basic salary for each completed 
year of service. Employee entitlements to annual leave and leave passage are recognised 
when they accrue to employees and an accrual is made for the estimated liability arising as 
a result of services rendered by employees up to the statement of financial  position date. 
These accruals are included in current liabilities, while that relating to end of service benefits 
is disclosed as a non-current liability. 

Foreign currency 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Rial Omani, which is the 
Group’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment except land are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
less impairment losses, if any. Land is stated at revalued amount. The cost of property, plant 
and equipment is the purchase cost, together with any incidental expenses of acquisition.

Revaluations of lands are carried out every three years on an open market value for existing 
use basis, by external valuer. Net surpluses arising on revaluation are credited to a revaluation 
reserve, except that a revaluation increase is recognised as income to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised as an expense. A 
decrease as a result of a revaluation is recognised as an expense, except that it is charged 
directly against any related revaluation surplus to the extent that the decrease does not 
exceed the amount held in the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset. On disposal 
the related revaluation surplus is transferred directly to retained earnings. Transfers from 
revaluation surplus to retained earnings are not made through the Statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  

Years
Motor vehicles 5

Office equipments 5-7

Machinery and equipment 5-7

Furniture and  Fixtures 5

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
financial position date. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount, it is written-down immediately to its recoverable amount.  

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference 
to their carrying amounts and are taken into account in determining operating profit or 
loss. 

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. The cost of intangible asset 
is their purchase price to gether with any incidental expenses. Subsequent expenditure is 
capitalized only when it increases the future conomic benefits embodied in items of intangible 
asset. All other expenditure is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as an 
expense as incurred. Amortization is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on 
a straightline basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of intangibleasset. 
The useful life of the intangible asset is 5 years.

Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which 
rights of tenure are current is carried forward as an asset in the statement of financial 
position where it is expected that the expenditure will be recovered through the successful 
development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration activities 
are continuing in an area and activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable 
estimate of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. Where a project 
or an area of interest has been abandoned, the expenditure incurred thereon is written off in 
the year in which the decision is made.

If facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of any recognized exploration 
and evaluation assets may be impaired, the Management performs impairments tests 
on those assets and measures the impairment, if any. Any impairment loss is recognized 
as an expense. A regular review is under taken of each area of interest to determine the 
appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The net realizable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs to 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The cost of inventories are 
determined and estimated with reference to their selling prices.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of placement. 

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that it will result in an outflow of economic benefit that can 
be reliably estimated. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required 
to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires 
the management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities. Future events may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the 
estimates to change. The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements as they become reasonably determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. 

Depreciation/ amortization

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives. 
The calculation of useful lives is based on management’s assessment of various factors such 
as the operating cycles, the maintenance programs, and normal wear and tear using its best 
estimates.

Estimated useful lives of property and equipment

The costs of items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a systematic basis 
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Management has determined the estimated 
useful lives of each asset and/ or category of assets based on the following factors:

·	 Expected usage of the assets,
·	 Expected physical wear and tear, which depends on operational and environmental 

factors; and
·	 Legal or similar limits on the use of the assets.

Management has not made estimates of residual values for any items of property, plant and 
equipment at the end of their useful lives as these have been deemed to be insignificant.
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Calculation of loss allowance 

Loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about probability and risk of 
default and expected loss rates. The Company uses judgement in making these assumptions 
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculations, based on the Group’s past history, 
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting 
period.

Fair values estimation

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year 
are assumed to approximate to their fair values. The fair value of unlisted investments is 
determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment or is based on the 
expected discounted cash flows or the underlying net asset base of the investment. 

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded 
fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3 - techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair 
value that are not based on observable market data.

The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 3 fair values for 
financial instruments measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, as well as 
the significant unobservable inputs used

Financial 
Instruments

Valuation
Technique

Significant
unobservable
inputs

Inter-relationship 
between key 
unobservable 
inputs and 
fair value 
measurement

Unquoted 
investments

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Discounted cash flows: The 
valuation model considers the 
present value of net future cash 
flows projected by the investee 
company, taking into account 
the completion of expansion 
plans, local demographic and 
the expected new contractual 
agreements. The future net cash 
flows are discounted using risk-
adjusted discount rates. Among 
other factors, the discount rate 
estimation considers the post-tax 
cost of debt, systemic risk for the 
industry and the cost of equity.
 

Weighted 
Average Cost 
of Capital 
(WACC) 14%. 

The estimated 
fair value would 
increase/ 
(decrease) if:
 
WACC was lower/ 
(higher);

Terminal value 
was higher/ 
(lower).

3. New standards, amendments and interpretations 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent 
with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2019, except for the adoption of new standards effective as of 1 January 
2020. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment 
that has been issued but is not yet effective.

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2020

- Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business
- Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
- Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material
- Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

74 TATWEER  
Oman Company for the Development of Special Economic Zone at Al- Duqm (S.A.O.C)



The above standards do not have an impact on the financial statements of the Group. The 
Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been 
issued but are not yet effective.

(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, 
up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. 

The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, if 
applicable, when they become effective.

-  COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16);
-  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9,IAS 39,IFRS 7, IFRS 4 

and IFRS 16);
- Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37);
- Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to IAS 16;
-  Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3);
-  Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1);
-  IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts; and 
-  Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material.

4 Financial risk management
     
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including the effects of changes 
in market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance 
of the Group. Risk management is carried out by management under guidance of those 
charged with governance.

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises where the value of a financial instrument changes due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates.  The management considers that the Group is not exposed to 
significant foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposure because all revenues and 
major operating costs are denominated in Rial Omani. Certain of the Group’s transactions 
and year end monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in US Dollars (USD). However, 
the foreign currency risk arising from exposure to US Dollar is considered minimal, as the 
Rial Omani is pegged to US Dollars.

The Group’s functional and presentation currency is Rials Omani and the Group’s performance 
is substantially independent of changes in foreign currency rates. There are no significant 
financial instruments denominated in foreign currency and consequently foreign currency 
risk is not significant.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. The Group is not exposed to significant interest rate risk, 
as the Group does not have significant interest bearing assets and liabilities which carries 
variable interest rates.
For every 5% change in interest rate, comprehensive income of the Group may improve or 
reduce approximate to RO 65,390 (2019: RO 30,240) based on the interest bearing liabilities 
at the end of the reporting period.  
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from cash and cash equivalents, 
as well as credit exposures to customers and committed transactions.

Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counter-parties are engaged in similar 
business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic 
features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected 
by changes in economic political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate 
the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular 
industry or geographical location. The Group does not have a significant concentration of 
credit risk. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of 
each customer. The demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk 
of the industry in which customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. 

With respect to exposures with banks, management considers the credit risk exposure to be 
minimal as the Group deals with reputed banks only. The carrying amount of financial assets 
represents the maximum credit exposure. The exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 
is on account of:

2020 2019

RO RO

Trade receivables - 2,031,983

Other receivables 1,910,589 83,331

Bank balances 3,516,967 895,925

Term deposits - 2,605,016

5,427,556 5,616,255

31 December 2019 
Weighted 

average loss  
rate %

Gross  carrying 
amount

RO 

Loss 
allowance

RO

Net carrying 
amount

RO

Less than 90 days              2.21% 947,467 20,928 926,539

Between 91-180 days              3.50% 554,806 19,402         535,404

Between 181-270 days            10.78% 544,976 58,757 486,219

Between 271-365 days            37.03% 112,026 41,485 70,541

More than 365 Days           71.83% 47,137 33,857 13,280

2,206,412 174,429      2,031,983

Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable. 
It is not the practice of the Group to obtain collateral over receivables and the vast majority 
are, therefore, unsecured.

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. 
Liquidity risk may arise from market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may result in 
unavailability of certain sources of funding.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability 
of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Management maintains 
flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.
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The table below summarises the maturities of the Group’s undiscounted financial liabilities 
at 31 December, based on contractual payment dates and current market interest rates.

31 December 2020 Carrying
values

Contractual 
cashflows

Less than
1 year

More 
than

1 year
RO RO  RO RO

End of service benefits 190,171 190,171 - 190,171
Trade and other payables 202,169 202,169 202,169 -

392,340 392,340 202,169 190,171
31 December 2019

Term loan 525,000 557,813 191,250 366,563
Obligation under finance 
lease 79,840 82,802 82,802 -

Trade and other payables 1,189,780 1,189,780 1,189,780 -

1,978,162 2,013,937 1,463,832 550,105

5 Revenue

The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and 
services over time and at a point in time in the following major product lines. 

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Disaggregation of revenue – over 
time
Management services revenue 3,389,501 3,758,484 3,389,501 3,758,484

Disaggregation of revenue –
at a point in time
Sale of sand and aggregate 3,039,187 3,820,461 - -

Royalties 76,649 366,171 - -

6,505,337 7,945,116 3,389,501 3,758,484

6 Staff costs
Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO
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Salaries, wages and allowances 1,505,965 1,404,707 1,293,934 1,167,183

End of service benefits (note 20) 109,010 119,751 97,261 85,647

Contributions to a defined 
contributions 
retirement plan for Omani employees

101,118 164,834
87,832

93,771

Other staff benefits 135,371 128,975 61,953 128,976

1,851,464 1,818,267 1,540,980 1,475,577

7 Operating expenses

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Consultancy costs 132,000 1,412,949 132,000 1,412,949

Cost of goods sold 1,496,417 2,063,796 - -

Others 171,378 3,334 171,378 737

1,799,795 3,480,079 303,378 1,413,686

8 Administrative expenses

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO
Utilities - administration 60,796 17,265 46,229  17,265 

Travel 37,882 70,746 26,830  44,906 

Royalties 313,150 412,109 - - 

Insurance 37,613 9,250 37,613 9,250  

Maintenance expense 8,805 14,859 8,805 14,859  

Board sitting fees 11,576 30,565 8,850 19,500  

Professional fees 44,696 47,419 26,725 28,859

Rent 345,557 303,955 328,397 293,556  

Others 85,014 438,454 76,418 128,009

945,089 1,344,622 559,867 556,204
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Land was granted by the Government of Sultanate of Oman at no cost during 2016. The land 
and the relevant grant were recorded at fair value with corresponding effect recognized in 
profit or loss statement. During 2019, the management hired independent external valuers 
to revalue the land, revaluations of land are expected to be carried out every three years on 
an open market value for existing use basis.

10 Intangible assets
Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Cost
At 1 January 6,170  4,290 -   -   

Additions during the year 3,338 1,880 - -

Change arising from losing control 
of subsidiaries (9,508) - -   -   

At 31 December -   6,170 -   -   

Amortization
At 1 January 1,940   756 -   -   

Charge for the year 1,501   1,184 -   -   

Change arising from losing control 
of subsidiaries (3,441)   - -   -   

At 31 December -   1,940 -   -   

Carrying value
At 31 December -   4,230 -   -   

11 Mineral exploration and evalutation expenditure

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

At 1 January 33,720 6,700 -    -

Expenditure incurred during the year 13,184 27,020 - -

 Change arising from losing control of
subsidiaries

(46,904) - -    -

At 31 December - 33,720 -    -

The expenditure incurred during the year represents various activities carried out in the 
licensed areas in respect of limestone and dolomite.
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12 Investment in subsidiaries 
2020 2019

RO RO

Duqm Quarries SAOC - 700,000

Duqm Fisheries Investment Company SAOC  - 165,000

- 865,000

During 2020, the shares in Duqm Quarries were sold to Mineral Development of Oman for 
RO 1,878,795 on 31st December 2020;

Duqm Fisheries Investment Company SAOC was liquidated during 2020 and at the time of 
liquidation the share of the Company in the proceeds was RO 149,497.

13 Equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Duqm Material Market SAOC 440,000 440,000 440,000 440,000

Emdaad Logistics SAOC 116,720 116,720 116,720 116,720

556,720 556,720 556,720 556,720

During 2019, the Group has acquired 15% shareholding in Duqm Material Market SAOC and 
Emdaad Logistics SAOC.

2020 2019

   Local - Unquoted securities RO RO

 At 1 January  556,720   515,000

   Fair value gain - 41,720

   At 31 December 556,720 556,720

14 Term deposits

 Term deposits presented at the statement of financial position are as follows:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Term deposit - 2,605,016 - 2,043,230

short term portion - 2,043,230 - 2,043,230

Long term portion         - 561,786 - -

Term deposits with local bank carries interest in the range of  4.25% to 4.5% per annum 
(2019: 4.25% to 4.50% per annum).These term deposits matured during the year and all of 
the principal and interest has been received by the Company.                                                                                                                            
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15     Inventories
Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Trading items:   

Aggregate base course -   52,125 -   -   

Others -   45,966 -   -   

-   98,091 -   -   

16  Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Trade receivables - 2,206,412 - -

Less: Impairment loss for trade 
receivables - (174,429) - -

- 2,031,983 - -

Other receivables 1,910,589 83,331 1,910,589 57,230

1,910,589 2,115,314 1,910,589 57,230

Movements in the allowance for impairment of receivables were as follows:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

At 1 January -   9,125 -   -   

Provided during the year - 165,304 - -

- 174,429 - -

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of 
receivable mentioned in note 4. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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17  Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Cash on hand 710 1,236 710 334

Bank balances 3,516,257 894,689 3,516,257 122,523

3,516,967 895,925 3,516,967 122,857

18 Share capital

The share capital of the Company is RO 3,500,000 (2019: RO 3,500,000) divided into 
3,500,000 (2019:3,500,000) shares of RO 1 each and is registered with the Ministry of 
Commerce and Industry. Public Authority for Special Economic Zones and Freezones (the 
Authority) holds 100% of the shares in the company. 

19 Legal reserve

Article 132 of the Commercial Companies Law of 2019 requires that 10% of a Company’s 
net profit to be transferred to a non-distributable legal reserve until the amount of the legal 
reserve becomes equal to one-third of the Company’s fully-paid share capital.

20 End of service benefits 
Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

At 1 January 183,542 104,938 144,052 99,552

Charge for the year (note 5) 109,010 119,751 97,261 85,647

Change arising from losing control 
of subsidiaries (51,239) - - -

Paid during the year (51,142) (41,147) (51,142) (41,147)

At 31 December 190,171 183,542 190,171 144,052

21 Trade and other payables
Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Trade payables 109,626 927,713 109,626 -

Staff benefits payable 67,099 39,332 67,099 39,332

Other payables 25,444 428,409 25,444 19,172

202,169 1,395,454 202,169 58,504
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22 Related parties

Related parties comprise the shareholders, directors, key management personnel and 
business entities in which they have the ability to control or exercise significant influence in 
financial and operation decisions (other related parties). 

Apart from dealing with the Authority, the Group also enters into transactions in the ordinary 
course of business with other related parties that are controlled by the Government. 
Transactions with related parties were as follows :   

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Revenue earned from the OPAZ 3,347,404 3,758,484 3,347,404 3,758,484

Expenses incurred on behalf of the 
Group by OPAZ

132,000 1,424,148 132,000 1,424,148

Board sitting fees 11,576 19,500 8,850 19,500

Year end balances arising from the sale/purchase of goods and services are included within 
trade and other receivables and trade payables respectively:

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Receivables from OPAZ 649,632 653,722 649,632 653,722

649,632 653,722 649,632 653,722
23 Taxation

The Parent Company and its subsidaries have been carrying out their operations in Special 
Economic Zone at Duqm. Hence, the Group is exempted from Income-tax pursuant to 
Decision No. 236/2015 dated 26 April 2015, the Income Tax Law promulgated by Royal 
Decree No. 28/2009 and its Executive Regulations and Decisions issued in implementation 
thereof.

24 Term loan 

2020
  RO

      2019
        RO

Term loan -      525,000

Less: Current portion of term loan -   (180,000)

    Non-current portion of term loan - 345,000

The term loan was for one subsidiary availed from local bank for the new crusher plant and 
carried a commercial interest rate of 6.25% per annum and was secured against term deposit 
of RO 525,000, commercial mortgage and joint registration of the plant being constructed. 
However, as the subsidiary was sold during the year there is no loan liability outstanding on 
the Group or Company as at 31 December 2020.
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25 Finance lease

The Group has entered into lease arrangements with a financial institution for lease of motor 
vehicles. The minimum lease payments have been discounted using internal rate of return. 
This lease liability belonged to a subsidiary and as the subsidiary was sold during the year 
there is no outstanding lease liability for the Group or Company as at 31 December 2020.

26 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying value as stated 
in the statement of financial position.
 
27 Contingencies and Commitments 
 
 At the end of reporting period, the Group has the following contingencies and 
commitments entered into in the normal course of business: 

2020 2019

RO RO

Capital commitments - 95,000

Bank guarantees - 12,221

- 107,221

28     COVID-19 update 

The coronavirus outbreak and the measures taken by the government to control the effect 
of the pandemic has not signifncat impact on the Group’s operating environment and its 
financial position. The Group has been closely monitoring the impact of the developments 
on the businesses and has put in place certain contingency measures. As the situation is fast 
evolving, the effect of the outbreak is subject to significant levels of uncertainty, with the full 
range of possible effects unknown.

29  Approval of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the management and authorised 
for issue on  23 March 2021. 
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